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The complex of historic structures and sites around Cooch ! s 

Bridge includes the houses, mills, dams, and sites associated with 

more than two and a half centuries of industrial development. The 

industrial sites here, and the roads that served them, undoubtedly 

were important in Washington's decision to fight a holding action on 

the Christina during September of 1777.

The historic site stretches from William Cooch T s upper dam to 

the tailrace of Dayett's Mill, and includes the sites of the first 

Cooch mill and of Sir William Keith's abortive ironmaking venture. 

William Cooch's mill of 1791, and the pre-^Revolutionary Cooch mansion 

still stand in a much-altered condition. A raceway from the dams 

on the Christina and on Purgatory Swamp still provides the power for 

Dayett's Mill. The Dayett House, and the Armstrong House on the 

opposite bank of the Christina, are both nineteenth-century residence 

built by members of the Cooch family. On a line roughly between the 

Armstrong and Dayett houses, the old ford crosses the Christina; here 

the American troops made their stand as the British advan 

road from Aiken's Tavern.

The Cooch House, in its present form, is a 

structure, 2% stories high with a low gable roof and a 

portico. The Armstrong House, to the south, is a

Greek Revival structure with a small portico on the east frontage. 

The Dayett House, also of stuccoed brick, features a mansard roof and 

a recently-added portico. The Dayett Mill is 3% stories high, of 

brick, with^a mansard roof; it contains roller-mill machinery that
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Cooch's Bridge is the site of the third iron\J^^ace erected in 

British America, and of the only Revolutionary battle ̂ ?5^gKt on 

Delaware soil.

The land around Cooch's Bridge was near the eastern boundary of 

the Welsh Tract, a 30,000-acre grant to a group of Welsh immigrants 

who settled in western New Castle County during the first decade of 

the eighteenth century. Some of these settlers were millwrights, 

millers, and ironworkers who soon established mills and forges along 

the branches of the several creeks in the vicinity. Of these creeks 

the Christina offered the best head of water for industry; since it 

flowed through the ore-rich Iron Hill region, the Christina was an 

ideal power source for ironworking. At least two blast furnaces were 

established at the foot of Iron Hill, and several forges are known 

to have operated nearby.

Sir William Keith, the Governor of Pennsylvania and The Three Lower 

Counties began buying land on the Christina in 1722, with the intention 

of establishing an iron plantation to be known as Keithsborough. There 

were already dams and mills on the land he bought; there may have been 

bloomery forges in operation on the property as well. Keith gave up 

his plan for an iron plantation in 1726, when he sold the mill seats 

to John England, the iron master at Principio in Maryland, who had
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7. DESCRIPTION (continued)  

can be operated by water or electricity. A railroad siding serves the 

mill. The foundations of the William Cooch mill are now surmounted by 

a modern\barn. Thomas Cooch's mill site may be discerned as a 

depression in the meadow. The earlier mill dam, which may have served 

William Keith ! s abortive iron works, may be seen as an earthen bank 

near the Purgatory Swamp dam.
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (Continued,

recently emigrated from Tamworth, Staffordshire. England and his heirs 

owned the property until they sold it, in several parcels, to Thomas 

Cooch a few years before the American Revolution.

By the time Thomas Cooch arrived on the scene, iron manufacture at 

Iron Hill had virtually ceased; Cooch was a miller who bought up the 

better mill seats for development. He was an agressive businessman who 

chose the best properties and worked at every aspect of their development. 

On the eve of the Revolution, he had persuaded the County Court to 

rebuild the bridge at his mill, but the war interrupted his plans and 

left his mill and bridge in ashes.

After the British army landed on the Elk River in August 1777,

General Washington sent a body of picked troops to fight a holding actic 

at Cooch*s Bridge while his army entrenched along Red Clay Creek near 

Stanton. On September 3, 1777, Howe left Head of Elk and Knyphausen 

moved from Buck Tavern(now Summit) with plans to meet at Aiken T s Tavern 

(Glasgow), near the Continental position, and march on from there. The 

first shot was fired about a half-mile north of Aiken's and skirmishing 

continued for two miles beyond Cooch T s Bridge as the American forces 

retreated. A letter from General van Wurmb to General von Jungkenn 

relates the heroic stand that took place.

After the enemy had shot themselves out of ammunition the 
fight was carried on with the sword, they being finally put 
to flight. But they immediately made a stand again, and we 
drove them away a second time, when they took post beyond 
Christeen Creek at Cooch f s Bridge.
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8. SIGNIFICANCE (continued)   pal

Vt^v »»»«
The British tried to cut off the A^rf^ai^^Mi'feaib^^iliad it not been for 

their inability to penetrate Pur gat or y^Sw.£lriji, l-^frey might have succeeded

It has been claimed that the Stars and Stripes were first 

unfurled in battle here. The flag had been adopted by Congress, 

June 14, 1777, and was carried in a parade in Philadelphia in August; 

however, the militia were still using state or regimental banners. The 

troops at Cooch's Bridge were a special light infantry brigade drawn 

from seventy regiments. Since colors are important in a battle, and 

since only the national flag would be meaningful to all of the regiment 

it is possible that it was carried.

During the battle, the British burned Cooch's Mill and took 

possession of his house, as a headquarters for General Cornwallis. 

The grist mill was not rebuilt until the property passed to Thomas 

Cooch ! s grandson, William, in 1791. This mill, just east of the bridge 

is still extant. In 1838, William Cooch, Jr. inherited the property 

from his father and built a new mill farther downstream. Around the 

time of the Civil War, the Cooch mansion was rebuilt in its present 

form. The land passed in 1870 to Levi Cooch, who conveyed it to Joseph 

and William Cooch in the same year. Their mill company, known as the 

Cooch Brothers, used the 3%-story brick building which still stands. 

It was run entirely by water power from the Christiana until it was 

remodeled in 1884. John W. Dayett bought Cooch ! s Mill in 1894 and 

added all the latest improvements. Twice gutted by fire, in 1916 and 

1933, the Dayett Mill was restored each time and is still in operation,
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8. SIGNIFICANCE (continued)—— page 3

still using water power from William Cooch T s 1792 dam on the Christina

and from a smaller dam on Purgatory Swamp.

The Cooch Mansion is still in the possession of the Cooch family.


